

Effect of dietary flavonoids on hepatic CYP2E1 and 3A4 activity

- Implication for food-drug interactions

Flavonoiders effekt på hepatisk CYP2E1 och 3A4 aktivitet

- Implikation för interaktioner mellan mat och läkemedel

Johanna Östlund

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Food Science

Effect of dietary flavonoids on hepatic CYP2E1 and 3A4 activity

Johanna Östlund

Supervisor:	Galia Zamaratskaia, Department of Food Science, SLU
Examiner:	Rikard Landberg, Department of Food Science, SLU

Credits: 30 hec Level: Second cycle, A2E Course title: Independent project in Food Science Course code: EX025 Programme/education: Agriculture Programme - Food Science

Place of publication: Uppsala Year of publication: 2017 Title of series: Examensarbete/Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet, Institutionen för Livsmedelsvetenskap Number of part of series: ISSN: Online publication: http://stud.epsilon.slu.se

Keywords: Cytochrome P450, CYP2E1, CYP3A4, Flavonoids, Quercetin, Myricetin, Isorhamnetin, food-drug interactions

Sveriges Lantbruksuniversitet Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Food Science

Abstract

Flavonoids are a group of phytochemicals ubiquitously present in vegetables, fruits, berries and herbs. It is suggested that they contribute to protection against several lifestyle diseases including cancer. Nevertheless, herbal extracts and foods rich in certain flavonoids have been shown to interact with the metabolism of drugs that may cause adverse effects. The interactions are often due to modulation of drug metabolising cytochrome P450 enzymes in the liver.

The present study examined inhibitory effects of the flavonoid quercetin on the cytochrome P450 isoform CYP2E1. Quercetin, myricetin and isorhamentin were flavonoids investigated for inhibitory effects on the isoform CYP3A4. The metabolising function of those specific cytochrome P450 isoforms is crucial for detoxification and/or bioactivation of foreign compounds. Catalytic activity was measured *in vitro* using human liver microsomes separated in male and female pools. Reversibility of enzyme inhibition was investigated and kinetic measurements were performed in order to determine inhibition mechanism. Based on results from animal experiments, the hypothesis was that the selected flavonoids inhibit enzyme activity and that the degree of inhibition differed between genders.

Quercetin inhibited CYP2E1 activity and quercetin and myricetin inhibited CYP3A4 activity as expected, but isorhamnetin had no inhibitory effects on CYP3A4. Inhibition was reversible in all enzyme pools, but the mechanism varied between competitive, uncompetitive and non-competitive inhibition. These observations are related to the flavonoid structure where the number and position of hydroxyl-groups determine the binding mechanism to the enzyme and thereby the level and mode of inhibition. Surprisingly, this study revealed no substantial gender disparities of flavonoid inhibition in human cytochrome P450 activity. Large variations between enzyme pools were observed within the same gender, suggesting inter-individual differences attributable to genetic and/or other lifestyle factors rather than gender.

This study provided gained insight in human cytochrome 450 regulation in presence of flavonoids and the results can contribute to research in drug development.

Keywords: Cytochrome P450, CYP450, CYP2E1, CYP3A4, Flavonoid, Quercetin, Myricetin, Isorhamnetin, food-drug interactions, FDI

Sammanfattning

Flavonoider är en grupp fytokemikalier som finns i de flesta grönsaker, frukt bär och örter. De har visat sig bidra till ett skydd mot flera livsstilssjukdomar, till exempel cancer. Örtextrakt och livsmedel med högt innehåll av vissa flavonoider har dock visat sig påverka nedbrytningen av läkemedel vilket kan orsaka oönskade biverkningar. Interaktionen involverar framförallt en kemisk modulering av läkemedelsnedbrytande, så kallade cytokrom P450-enzymer i levern.

Den här studien undersökte inhibering av flavonoiden quercetin på cytokromisoformen CYP2E1 samt flavonoiderna quercetin, myricetin och isorhamnetin på CYP3A4. Aktiviteten hos dessa cytokrom P450-isoformer utgör en vital funktion i nedbrytningen av främmande ämnen. Katalytisk aktivitet mättes *in vitro* i levermikrosomer från människor uppdelade i manliga och kvinnliga pooler. Inhiberingens reversibilitet undersöktes och kinetiska analyser utfördes för att ta reda på inhiberingsmekanismen.

Hypotesen, baserad på resultat från liknande djurstudier, var att de specifika flavonoiderna inhiberar enzymaktivitet och att inhiberingsgraden varierar mellan könen.

Resultaten visade att quercetin inhiberade CYP2E1 aktivitet och quercetin, myricetin inhiberade CYP3A4 aktivitet som förväntat, men isorhamnetin inhiberade inte CYP3A4. Inhiberingen var reversibel i alla enzympooler och typen av inhibering var antingen kompetitiv, okompetitiv eller icke-kompetitiv. Dessa observationer kan relateras till flavonoidernas kemiska struktur där antalet hydroxylgrupper och dess positioner avgör bindningen till enzymet och därav graden av inhibering. Den här studien visade dock inga väsentliga skillnader mellan könen i flavonoidernas förmåga att inhibera cytokrom P450-aktivitet i människor. Det var stor variation mellan enzympoolerna inom samma kön vilket tyder på interindividuella skillnader relaterade till genetiska eller andra livsstilsfaktorer snarare än kön.

Resultaten från studien kan bidra till ökad kunskap om cytokrom-P450-reglering i människa vilket kan stödja forskning inom läkemedelsutveckling.

Nyckelord: Cytokrom P450, CYP450, CYP2E1, CYP3A4, Flavonoid, Quercetin, Myricetin, Isorhamnetin, Läkemedelsinteraktioner, FDI

Table of contents

Abbre	viations	6
1	Introduction	7
1.1	Background	7
1.2	Objectives	8
2	Literature review	9
2.1	The Cytochrome P450 system	9
	2.1.1 Reaction model	9
	2.1.2 CYP450 isoforms	10
2.2	CYP450 in xenobiotic metabolism	10
	2.2.1 Enzyme inhibition	11
	2.2.2 Michaelis Menten kinetics	12
2.3	Food-drug interactions involving CYP450	13
2.4	Inhibition by dietary flavonoids	13
	2.4.1 Quercetin	15
	2.4.2 Myricetin	15
	2.4.3 Isorhamnetin	15
2.5	Cytochrome 2E1	17
2.6	Cytochrome 3A4	17
2.7	Gender related differences in CYP450 activity	18
3	Material and method	20
3.1	Chemicals	21
3.2	Microsomes	21
3.3	Analysis of CYP2E1	21
3.4	Analysis of CYP3A4	22
3.5	Data analysis	22
4	Results	23
4.1	CYP 2E1 activity	23
4.2	CYP 3A4 activity	27
4.3	Summary of results	31
5	Discussion	32
6	Conclusions	35
7	Acknowledgements	36
Refer	ences	37
8.	Appendix: Popular summary	42

Abbreviations

CYP450	Cytochrome P450
FDI	Food-drug interactions
ADE	Adverse drug event
NADPH	β-nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
PNP	<i>p</i> -nitrophenol
BR	Benzyloxyresorufin
BFC	7-benzyloxy-4-trifluoromethylcoumarin
HFC	7-hydroxy-7-benzyloxy-triflouromethylcoumarine

1 Introduction

1.1 Background

Cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYP450s) are the main group of enzymes responsible for the metabolism and detoxification of foreign substances, commonly called xenobiotics. They are also involved in the biosynthesis and metabolism of endogenous compounds such as fatty acids and steroids. CYP450s are highly expressed in the liver, where they catalyse reactions that convert lipophilic compounds into more hydrophilic derivatives. Most drugs undergo this biotransformation in order to be catabolised and eliminated from the body (Gonzalez, 1988). However, other xenobiotic compounds such as dietary flavonoids can modulate the activity of CYP450 enzymes leading to an enhancement or inhibition of the catalytic activity. Consequently, the detoxification or functionality of drugs may be interrupted (Hodek et al., 2002).

In the present study, the flavonoids quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin were examined for their inhibitory effects on enzyme activity of two CYP450 isoforms. These flavonoids are naturally occurring in a wide range of vegetables in the human diet and known to interact with several CYP450 enzymes (Chen et al., 2009; Guo and Zheng, 2014; Lau and Chang, 2009). Emerging *in vitro* and *in vivo* evidence propose health effects of many flavonoids attributable to their anti-oxidative properties (C.f. Bodewes et al., 2011). Accordingly, supplements containing high concentrations of flavonoids are commonly consumed to prevent health issues. However, knowledge about the underlying mechanisms are limited. (Hollman, Cassidy et al. 2011). Moreover, when co-administrated with prescription drugs there is a considerable risk for adverse health effect since knowledge about potential food-drug interactions (FDI) is still scarce. Understanding the mechanisms behind FDI with CYP450 enzymes can improve the development of new medicines for animals and humans and minimize the risk for adverse effects of drugs (Wanwimolruk and Prachayasittikul, 2014).

Besides diet and other lifestyle factors, the expression and activity of CYP450 enzymes depend on genetic profile, age and gender (Zanger and Schwab, 2013). These inter-individual variations in enzyme activity make it difficult to predict individual drug response. The effect of dietary components on CYP450 activity may also vary between men and women. Gender related differences in the effect of phytochemicals on CYP450 activity has previously been reported in porcine microsomes (Ekstrand et al., 2015) but very few studies have investigated this phenomenon in humans. Therefore, this study on gender related differences in CYP activity in human microsomes provides new and important knowledge about CYP450 regulation in humans.

1.2 Objectives

The aim of the present study was to evaluate gender-related inhibitory effects of selected dietary flavonoids on hepatic CYP450 activity in human males and females *in vitro*. A secondary goal was to examine the mode of enzyme inhibition.

Specifically, quercetin was investigated for its inhibitory effect on CYP2E1 activity and quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin were investigated for their inhibitory effects on CYP3A4 activity. The choice of flavonoids and CYP450 isoforms was based on a recently published study which demonstrated that quercetin inhibited CYP2E1, and querctietin, myricetin and isorhamnetin inhibited CYP3A4 in a gender-related manner in pigs (Ekstrand et al., 2015).

Given that pigs and humans have a lot of physiological similarities, the hypothesis of this study was that in the presence of the selected flavonoids, human CYP2E1 and CYP3A4 activity would be inhibited in a gender dependent manner.

2 Literature review

With regards to the objectives of this study, the following paragraphs give an overview of the role of CYP450 enzymes in human metabolism with special emphasis on xenobiotic metabolism. Relevant information about mechanisms in CYP450 regulation is reviewed. Furthermore, the current knowledge status of food-drug interactions involving CYP2E1 and CYP3A4 and the selected flavonoids are presented.

2.1 The Cytochrome P450 system

Cytochrome P450 enzymes evolved in early organisms over 1.4 billion years ago as a system to cope with foreign substances. Environmental changes such as when vertebrates moved from the sea to land lead to increased exposure to new substances and contributed to the development of the CYP450 system and to a wide diversity of the enzymes (Gonzalez, 1988).

The research of CYP450 enzymes stretches back to the 1950's when Klingenberg, (1958) discovered a pigment with the maximum absorption of 450 nm when bound to carbon monoxide. A decade later it was further characterized as a heme protein that catalyses reactions in the cytochrome P450 monooxygenase system (Harding et al., 1964; Omura and Sato, 1962).

In animal species CYP450s are present at two different locations within the cell. Microsomal CYP450s are located in the endoplasmic reticulum. They are mainly involved in xenobiotic metabolism particularly in the liver. Mitochondrial CYP450s function in the biosynthesis of steroids also in extrahepatic tissues (Omura, 2010).

2.1.1 Reaction model

Most CYP450-mediated reactions involve insertion of a single oxygen atom derived from molecular oxygen into an organic molecule. Such reaction is classified as for example hydroxylation, sulfoxidation, epoxidation, *N*-dealkylation or *O*-dealkylation depending on the substrate to be converted. The general catalytic cycle starts when a substrate, typically hydrophobic, binds to the active site of the CYP450 enzyme forming an enzyme-substrate complex. The cycle continues with a series of reactions that require the enzyme cytochrome P450 *reductase* to generate a supply of electrons from reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH). The enzyme-substrate complex attracts dioxygen to the reduced heme group (Fe²⁺) at the enzyme. In the end of the cycle, water and a hydroxylated, more hydrophilic product, dissociates from the enzyme complex (Ortiz de Montellano and Voss, 2005). A simplified paradigm of the overall reaction is presented in **Figure 1**. In reality the system is far more complex and dynamic. It is thought that oxygenated intermediates can be released at any step in the cycle, potentially generating reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the reactions do not necessarily proceed in order (Krest et al., 2013).

$$RH + O_2 \xrightarrow{2H^+} ROH + H_2O$$

Figure 1. Cytochrome P450 catalysis. RH represents any substrate that binds to the enzyme's heme group (Fe^{3+}) at the active site. ROH represents the final hydroxylated and more hydrophilic product.

2.1.2 CYP450 isoforms

More than 15 000 CYP450 genes coding for varieties of the enzymes have been identified across all biological kingdoms. They are divided into gene families, subfamilies and finally individual genes based on their amino acid sequence profile. Humans possess only 57 active CYP450 genes (compared to 102 in mouse) grouped into 18 families and 44 subfamilies (Nelson et al., 2004). CYP450 family 1-3 are mainly involved in detoxification of exogenous compounds and the remaining CYP450 families regulate metabolism of endogenous compounds such as fatty acids and steroids (Ingelman-Sundberg and Sim, 2010).

The nomenclature of the enzymes is structured as follows: CYP450 followed by a number for family, a letter for subfamily and a number for the isoenzyme. For example, CYP2E1 and CYP3A4 investigated in this study represent different families. The expression of CYP450 enzymes varies widely between species, age, gender, homeostasis of the organism and is often tissue specific. Although expressed in almost all organs, human CYP450s are especially concentrated in the liver where CYP3A4 accounts for the largest fraction (30%), followed by CYP2C (20%), CYP1A2 (13%), CYP2E1 (7%), CYP2A6 (4%), CYP2D6 (1-5%) and CYP2A6 (<1%) (Shimada et al., 1994).

2.2 CYP450 in xenobiotic metabolism

Biotransformation of foreign compounds is an important function of CYP450 enzymes since a disruption of enzyme activity may produce toxicity that is detrimental for the health of the organism. The metabolic process comprises three steps: Phase I modification, Phase II conjugation and Phase III transport (Hoffmann et al., 2014). Microsomal CYP450 enzymes operate in the first phase by introducing polar groups to the foreign substance (Guengerich, 2001).

Most xenobiotics are metabolised by only a dozen human CYP450s belonging to CYP450 families 1-3. The most relevant enzymes involved in drug metabolism are six CYP450 isoforms that metabolise as much as 90 % of all prescribed drugs. The complex regulation of CYP450 activity makes it difficult to predict the fate of drugs and possible adverse drug events (ADE). Therefore, the drug industry is particularly interested in the research of CYP450 regulation (Lynch and Price, 2007; Zanger and Schwab, 2013).

The most common and well-studied mechanism underlying FDIs is inhibition of drug metabolising enzymes (Wienkers and Heath, 2005). In addition to inhibition of enzymes, drug transporters are susceptible to inhibition and can thus influence drug metabolism (Arnaud et al., 2010). Furthermore, *increased* expression of enzymes or transporters may modulate xenobiotic metabolism, often via receptor-mediated gene transcription (Hewitt et al., 2007). The present study is exclusively devoted to direct enzyme inhibition.

2.2.1 Enzyme inhibition

Any substance, including many drugs and dietary components, that reduce the velocity of enzymatic reactions are called inhibitors. There are two distinct types of inhibition, namely reversible and irreversible inhibition as described by Mathews et al., (2012);

- *Reversible inhibition* is called so because of the weak binding between the inhibitor and the enzyme that easily dissociates and *reverses* the inhibition. The binding action depends on the molecular structure of the enzyme and the inhibitor that further distinguish different modes of reversible inhibition:
 - Competitive inhibitors compete with the substrate for binding to the active site of the enzyme. As a result, the proportion of bound substrate diminishes and the catalytic activity decreases. The inhibition can be avoided by increasing the substrate concentration.
 - Uncompetitive inhibitors bind *only* to the enzyme-substrate complex. Since the inhibitor and substrate bind to different sites they do not structurally resemble each other. Upon binding, a conformational change distorts the catalytic reaction that cannot be overcome by increased substrate concentration.
 - Mixed inhibitors bind either to free enzyme or to the enzyme-substrate complex also at a site distinct from the active site. A slight conformational change in the enzyme complex makes the substrate binding to the active site not optimal and hence, reduces the enzyme activity. Inhibition cannot be overcome by increased substrate concentration because the inhibitor and the substrate do not compete for the same site.
 - Non-competitive inhibition is a special case of mixed inhibition where the inhibitor has the same binding affinity to the free enzyme and the enzyme-substrate complex.
- *Irreversible inhibition,* also called mechanism-based inactivation, occurs when the inhibitor constructs strong, covalent bonds with the enzyme that are unlikely to break. It alters the structure of the enzyme so that the inhibition cannot be reversed.

In practice, reversibility is often studied *in vitro* by including a pre-incubation step prior to addition of the probe substrate. In case of irreversible inhibition, the degree of inhibition increases after inclusion of a pre-incubation step. In contrast, reversible inhibition is unaffected by pre-incubation due to the inhibitor's ability to rapidly dissociate from the enzyme (Mathews et al., 2012). The type of reversible inhibition can be further examined with help of a kinetics study explained in the next paragraph.

2.2.2 Michaelis Menten kinetics

In biochemistry, the Michaelis-Menten equation is the most applicable approach for describing enzymatic reactions (**Figure 2.**). It is an essential tool when studying reversible CYP450 inhibition. The equation describes the reaction velocity as a function of substrate concentration that appears as a hyperbolic curve when viewed in a diagram (**Figure 3**). V_{max} reflects the maximum reaction velocity in which the enzyme is saturated with substrate. The Michaelis constant (K_m) is the substrate concentration needed to achieve half of V_{max} and reflects the binding affinity of the substrate to the enzyme. A high K_m indicates low binding affinity and more substrate is required to achieve half of V_{max} .

$$V = \frac{V_{max} \left[S\right]}{K_m + \left[S\right]}$$

Figure 2. The Michaelis Menten equation



Concentration of substrate [S]

Figure 3. Michaelis Menten plot describing the reaction velocity, V, as a function of substrate concentration, yielding K_m and V_{max} . Berg JM, Tymoczko JL, Stryer L. Biochemistry. 5th edition. New York: W H Freeman; 2002. Section 8.4, The Michaelis-Menten Model Accounts for the Kinetic Properties of Many Enzymes. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK22430/ [2016-04-20]

In vitro studies of CYP450 inhibition use a range of combined substrate and inhibitor concentrations in order to investigate the mode of inhibition. The results viewed in a Michaelis-Menten plot (**Figure 3**) are interpreted as described by Berg et al., (2002):

- Competitive inhibition yields a high K_m but does not affect V_{max} since inhibition is overcome by higher substrate concentration.
- In uncompetitive inhibition, both K_m and V_{max} are reduced because the inhibitor increases the effective substrate binding but inhibit the catalytic process.
- In the case of mixed inhibition, K_m increases and V_{max} decreases because the binding of the inhibitor affect the substrate binding and vice versa.

- Non-competitive inhibition is characterized by an unchanged K_m value and decreased V_{max} due to the unaffected substrate binding and impaired enzyme functionality.

The half maximum inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) and inhibition constant (K_i) are both terms that describe how effective the inhibitor is and are frequently used when evaluating the potency of drug candidates. More specifically, IC₅₀ is the concentration of an inhibitor that causes 50 % inhibition of the CYP450 enzyme activity and K_i, also called the dissociation constant, is a kinetic measure that reflects the strength of interaction between the enzyme and the inhibitor. The K_i value for an inhibitor is interpreted analogous with the K_m for a substrate, i.e. a low K_i indicates a strong binding affinity of the inhibitor to the enzyme and a high K_i indicates weak binding capacity. Its formula depends on the mode of inhibition. In the case of non-competitive inhibition, the K_i value is equal to IC₅₀. During competitive and uncompetitive inhibition, K_i is considered to be half of IC₅₀. For mixed inhibition, the K_i value ranges from IC₅₀ to IC₅₀/2 (Haupt et al., 2015). Whereas the IC₅₀ value depends on enzyme-, inhibitor- and substrate concentrations as well as other experimental conditions, the K_i value is independent of the substrate concentration but depends on the enzyme and inhibitor (Cer et al., 2009).

2.3 Food-drug interactions involving CYP450

Many plant derived food components have the ability to interfere with CYP450 mediated drug metabolism that may cause FDI. The most recognised examples are studies of grape fruit juice and St. John's wort which have shown clinically significant interactions with the metabolism of prescribed drugs. Other *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have indicated interactions between extracts of fruit, berries and herbs with several CYP450 enzymes (Wanwimolruk and Prachayasittikul, 2014). For example, extracts from blueberry, ginkgo biloba and garlic, including their bioactive components, have been studied for their potential role in food-drug interactions. The interaction often leads to a change in bioavailability of the drug, sometimes beneficial for the patient, in other cases it causes adverse or even dangerously toxic effects (Wanwimolruk and Prachayasittikul, 2014). The grade of interaction depends on the characteristics of the drug and active food constituents, the involved CYP450 enzymes, dosage, and health status of the patient. Supplements containing high levels of interacting components are available at the market and claimed to be beneficial for health. From a clinical perspective, the fact that supplements are not uncommonly taken concomitantly with drugs is of special concern (Wanwimolruk and Prachayasittikul, 2014).

2.4 Inhibition by dietary flavonoids

Flavonoids constitute a large group of plant pigments present in vegetables, fruits, berries and herbs that are consumed by most people on a daily basis. They have been extensively studied for their bioactive properties *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The anti-oxidative properties of flavonoids explain the apparent anti-carcinogenic activities where CYP450 enzymes is highly involved in the mechanism of action (Kale et al., 2008). Flavonoids can interact with CYP450 enzymes by modulating (inhibition or induction) biosynthesis of the enzymes or the catalytic activity. It may occur at a transcriptional or gene translational level as well as direct modulation of

CYP450 activity (Hodek et al., 2002). Flavonoids possessing a hydroxyl group generally inhibit CYP450 enzymes whereas flavonoids lacking hydroxyl groups may induce CYP450-dependent activities (Buening et al., 1981).

In nature, flavonoids occur mostly as glycosides where one of the hydroxyl groups is replaced by a sugar molecule such as glucose, rhamnose or rutinose. Sugar attached flavonoids have increased water solubility and are considered non-absorbable in the gut. Nevertheless, colon bacteria hydrolyses them into more lipophilic free flavonoids (aglycones) that are able to pass the intestinal border by simple diffusion (Hodek et al., 2002). In general, the flavonoid content in dietary plants is more concentrated in the seeds and outer part of the plant. Growing conditions and thermal processing as well as the extraction method are factors that influence the flavonoid contents measured in food (Harris et al., 2015; Mitchell et al., 2007; Wach et al., 2007). Hollman and Katan (1999) reported an average daily flavonoid intake of 23mg/day in the Netherlands where quercetin and myricetin were included in the observation, but stressed that it varies widely depending on the diet.

Quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin (**Figure 4**) are all members of the flavonol subgroup of flavonoids. Major food sources include onions, apples, kale, broccoli, apples, cherries, berries tea and red wine (Moon et al., 2006). Flavonols and other groups of flavonoids are bioactive constituents in many herbal extracts that are known to modulate CYP450 activity. Gingko Biloba for instance is used in alternative medicine to treat cerebrovascular diseases and memory impairment where quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin among other flavonoids are considered to be the responsible mediators (Cho and Yoon, 2015; Lau and Chang, 2009). A three-ring molecule with hydroxyl (OH-) groups attached make up the backbone of flavonols. Their similar structure means that they share some similarities in properties. The number of hydroxyl groups seems to correlate to the degree of inhibition. Myricetin and quercetin have showed stronger inhibition than flavonoids with less hydroxyl groups, and myricetin having one more hydroxyl group than quercetin was the more potent *in vitro* inhibitor of CYP2E1 and CYP3A4 activity (Ho et al., 2001; Li et al., 1994).



Figure 4. Chemical structure of the flavonoid aglycones of quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin.

Structures were retrieved from Mitchell et al., (2007) (Quercetin), Ong and Khoo, (1997) (Myricetin) and Wikipedia (2009). *Isorhamnetin*. https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/com-mons/5/54/3-methylquercetin.svg [2016-04-20] (Isorhamnetin)

2.4.1 Quercetin

Quercetin is the most abundant flavonoid in the human diet and hence also the most studied. It is distributed in a wide range of vegetables and consumed daily by most people worldwide. A review from the U.S. Department of Agriculture lists raw capers as the richest food source of quercetin (234mg/100g of the edible portion), followed by lovage (170mg/100g) (Bhagwat et al., 2014). In the western world, apples, onions and red wine account for the largest share of quercetin consumption although they contain much less quantities per 100g (Rodgers and Grant, 1998). Absorption of quercetin in the intestines is accompanied by methylation, sulfatination and glucuronidation, yielding many metabolites that are further metabolised in liver and kindeys. Twenty-one quercetin related compounds have been found in human urine (Kelly, 2011).

Quercetin inhibit several CYP isoforms including CYP1A2 and CYP2E1 *in vitro* and CYP3A4 both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Moon et al., 2006). A number of clinical studies indicate positive health effects of quercetin, for example blood pressure lowering effects. In most other areas such as cancer prevention the research is still limited to *in vitro* experiments (Kelly, 2011).

2.4.2 Myricetin

Various species of berries contain relatively high contents of myricetin as well as fennel and parsley leaves although carob is the richest dietary source (Bhagwat et al., 2014). Myricetin is structurally similar to quercetin and therefore have similar functions. Generally, it is present in the same vegetables, but to a much lesser extent than quercetin (Bhagwat et al., 2014; Ong and Khoo, 1997).

Research on myricetin is often devoted towards its protective role in metabolic and cancer diseases whereas studies on specific CYP450 inhibition by myricetin are less common. However, Ekstrand et al., (2015) demonstrated that myricetin competitively inhibit CYP1A activity and non-competitively inhibit CYP3A in porcine liver microsomes. Studies of rat liver microsomes have found myricetin to be an inhibitor of CYP3A, CYP2C9 (Choi et al., 2010) and a stronger inhibitor of CYP1A2 than quercetin (Li et al., 1994). Furthermore, it exhibited mixed-type inhibition of CYP2A6 in human liver microsomes (Tiong et al., 2010).

2.4.3 Isorhamnetin

Isorhamnetin is a metabolite of quercetin and also occurs naturally in vegetables. Most vegetables included in the report from U.S. Department of Agriculture contain only traces or no isorhamnetin. Nevertheless, parsley, kale and sea buckthorn contain amounts comparable to quercetin (Bhagwat et al., 2014). In consort with quercetin and myricetin, isorhamnetin has demonstrated cytoprotective and antioxidative capacity along with anti-adiposigenesis and anti-inflammatory effects (Si et al., 2012).

Isorhamnetin has been found to inhibit hepatic porcine CYP1A and CYP3A activity in a competitive manner (Ekstrand et al., 2015). Furthermore, hepatic CYP2B6 activity was inhibited *in vitro* by isorhamnetin aglycone in contrast to the glyosidic counterpart which did not exhibit inhibition (Lau and Chang, 2009).

A compilation of CYP450 enzymes inhibited by quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin respectively is presented in **Table 1**.

CYP450 isoform	Flavonoid	Model	Effect	Reference	
CYP1A1	Quercetin	Recombinant	Inhibition	Schwarz et al., 2011	
	Myricetin	Recombinant	Inhibition		
	Isorhamnetin	Recombinant	Inhibition	Takemura et al., 2010	
CYP1A2	Quercetin	HLM Non-competitive inhibi- tion		Rastogi and Jana, 2014	
	Quercetin	Recombinant	Inhibition	Takemura et al., 2010	
	Isorhamnetin	Recombinant	Inhibition		
CYP1B1	Quercetin	Recombinant	Inhibition	Takemura et al., 2010	
	Isorhamnetin	Recombinant	Inhibition		
CN/DO A C	Quercetin	HLM	Competitive inhibition	Tiong et al., 2010	
CTF2A0	Myricetin	HLM	Mixed type inhibition		
	Quercetin	HLM	Inhibition	Lau and Chang, 2009	
CTF2B0	Isorhamnetin	HLM	Inhibition		
CYP2C8	Quercetin	Recombinant	Irreversible inhibition	Pang et al., 2012	
CYP2C9	Quercetin	HLM	Competitive inhibition	Pastori and Jana	
CYP2C19	Quercetin	HLM	Competitive inhibition	2014	
CURADO	Quercetin	HLM	Competitive inhibition		
CYP2D6	Quercetin	LM male rats	Inhibition	Vijayakumar et al., 2015	
CYP2E1	Quercetin	Male porcine LM	Competitive inhibition		
CVD2 A	Myricetin	Male porcine LM	Non-competitive inhibi- tion	Ekstrand et al., 2015	
СҮРЗА	Isorhamnetin	Male & female porcine LM	Competitive inhibition		
	Quercetin	HLM and HIM	Inhibition	Fasinu et al., 2013	
СҮРЗА4	Myricetin	Recombinant	Inhibition	Choi et al., 2010	

Table 1. Overview of previously investigated inhibitory effects on CYP450 activity by quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin

HLM = human liver microsomes, LM = liver microsomes, HIM = human intestinal microsomes

2.5 Cytochrome 2E1

The isoform CYP2E1 is expressed in various organs and tissues and is one of the major hepatic CYP450 enzymes in humans. It metabolises relatively small hydrophobic endogenous and exogenous compounds including several steroids as well as drugs such as chlorozoxazone and paracetamol. Chlorozoxazone is frequently used as a probe substrate since CYP2E1 exhibits high specificity for the compound. The present study used another specific substrate, *P*-Nitrophenol (PNP). It rapidly metabolises to nitrocatechol and is therefore suitable for *in vitro* assays (Cederbaum, 2014).

Research on CYP2E1 regulation is mostly focused on its association with various cancers since the enzyme is an efficient activator of chemical carcinogenesis (Zanger and Schwab, 2013). Induction of CYP2E1 is linked to several types of cancer caused by the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that cause cell damage. The enzyme is inducible by many of its own substrates and several hormones at a transcriptional, translational and posttranslational level (Gonzalez, 2007). Ethanol is an example of an inducing CYP2E1 substrate that is a causative player in alcoholic and non-alcoholic liver disease caused by ROS production (Aubert et al., 2011). Moreover, CYP2E1 expression is elevated during several other physiological conditions including diabetes, obesity, fasting and smoking (Caro and Cederbaum, 2004; Girre et al., 1994).

Numerous phytochemicals are considered anti-carcinogenic attributable to their ability to inhibit CYP2E1 (Barcelo et al., 1996; Wargovich, 2006). Furthermore, CYP2E1 inhibitors such as the irreversible inhibitor disulfiram are utilized in clinical practises against alcohol abuse (Pelkonen et al., 2008). The antioxidant disulfiram, diethyldithio-carbamate and the active constituent in garlic, diallylsulfide, are known irreversible inhibitors of CYP2E1 (Cho and Yoon, 2015). The proclaimed health beneficial ingredient in red wine, resveratrol, is a non-competitive CYP2E1 inhibitor (Piver et al., 2001). Additional phytochemicals present in various food products and herbs have indicated inhibitory effects including licochalcone from liquorice (He et al., 2015), isoflavones from soy (Fan et al., 2013), black tea catechins (Catterall et al., 2003), black pepper (Kang et al., 1994) and ginseng (Kim et al., 1997). Most studies were conducted in the liver or intestine of mice and rats and the results can therefore not apply to humans. Zuber et al., (2002) pointed out that although active components from milk thistle inhibited CYP2E1 in human liver microsomes, the plasma concentrations of those compounds following dietary uptake do not reach the concentration required for inhibition. Therefore, CYP2E1 inhibition by milk thistle in the diet is unlikely.

2.6 Cytochrome 3A4

CYP3A4 is the most abundant CYP450 enzyme in the liver and the main metabolising enzyme of approximately 50% of all prescribed drugs (Pelkonen et al., 2008). The small intestine also hosts significant CYP3A4 content where it substantially contributes to phase I metabolism of xenobiotics (von Richter et al., 2004). It is involved in bioactivation of procarcinogens such as aflatoxin (Gonzalez and Gelboin, 1994). Furthermore, several clinical studies have reported FDI involving irreversible inhibition of CYP3A4 activity. Orally administrated drugs were insufficiently degraded and accumulating in its active form in the blood circulation, sometimes causing unfavorable toxicity (Zhou et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2012).

The diverse functions of CYP3A4 can be attributed to its chemical structure. It exhibits a broad substrate preference due to its large and flexible active site that allows large or multiple

small molecules to bind. Substrates include several clinical drugs such as immunosuppressants, antibiotics and statins along with endogenous steroids such as testosterone, progesterone and bile acid (Zanger and Schwab, 2013). A recommended probe substrate for CYP3A4 inhibition assays is 7-benzyloxy-4-trifluoromethylcoumarin (BFC) which was used in this study. Although BFC is metabolised by several CYP450 isoforms, dealkylation to hydroxy-4trifluoromethylcoumarin (HFC) by CYP3A4 is especially sensitive to inhibition (Renwick et al., 2000; Stresser et al., 2000).

Consistent with low substrate selectivity, CYP3A4 is susceptible to inhibition by a broad variety of substances. Known inhibitors are structurally divergent, ranging from antifungal agents, antimicrobial and antihypertensives to herbal and food constituents (Pelkonen et al., 2008). Grapefruit juice is a well recognised CYP3A4 inhibitor and responsible for several clinically relevant FDI proved in clinical studies (Ameer and Weintraub, 1997). The juice is rich in flavonoids that individually also have inhibitory effects, for example naringin (Veronese et al., 2003). Resveratrol is a bioactive component of red wine, this flavonoid has been shown to interact with drug metabolism in human volunteers (Chow et al., 2010).

Research of CYP3A4 inhibition has revealed a few contradictory findings. The anti-depressive herb St. John's wort for instance inhibited CYP3A4 *in vitro* (Obach, 2000) but prolonged exposure increased CYP3A4 expression (Lau et al., 2011). A possible explanation proposed by Xie and Kim (2005) is that multiple inhibitors and inducers in the herb influence the enzyme expression in a feedback fashion. Gurley et al., (2005) showed that St. John's wort strongly induced CYP3A4 expression and to a less extent CYP2E1 in elderly subjects and discouraged concomitant ingestion of herbal supplements with prescription drugs to avoid herb-drug interactions.

Quercetin is one of the major phytochemicals in St. John's wort and has also showed contradictory effects on CYP3A4 activity. It inhibited felodipine metabolism in human liver microsomes (Fasinu et al., 2013) but *in vivo* studies of rats have showed conflicting results where both inhibition (Choi et al., 2011) and induction have been detected. The glucorunidated metabolites of quercetin following oral administration was thought to cause the enzyme activation (Yu et al., 2011).

Similar to CYP2E1 inhibition, CYP3A4 was inhibited by licochalcone, black pepper and irreversibly by resveratrol (Piver et al., 2001). Tiliroside is a flavonoid present in several berry species such as raspberries and is a strong CYP3A4 inhibitor (Sun et al., 2010). Likewise, Gingko Biloba inhibited CYP3A4 activity through inhibition of BFC metabolism in human microsomes (Gaudineau et al., 2004).

There are many more inhibitors of CYP2E1 and CYP3A4 metabolism than the above mentioned examples. This literature review presented the most relevant and investigated inhibitors deriving from dietary sources.

2.7 Gender related differences in CYP450 activity

Since CYP450 genes are located on autosomal chromosomes, gender differences in gene expression are not expected. Observed variations in expression and activity can therefore be attributed to endogenous hormonal influences (Meibohm et al., 2002). However, Penaloza et al., (2014) asserted that inborn differences between male and female CYP450 expression do exist through different methylation patterns in the embryo that persist in primary cells. They

found certain methylation patterns associated with higher expression of CYP1A1, CYP2E1 and CYP7B1 in tissues and cell cultures of female mice compared to male.

Human studies on gender differences in CYP450 regulation is often studied by quantifying the metabolism of probe substrates for specific CYP450 isoforms. Epidemiological studies with clinical drugs have reported 24-40 % higher CYP3A activity in women (Kahan et al., 1986; Krecic-Shepard et al., 2000; Lew et al., 1993; Meibohm et al., 2002). However, other studies suggested that the higher CYP3A metabolism is due to lower expression of the drug transporter P-glycoprotein in women (Kinirons et al., 1999; Lan et al., 2000; Meibohm et al., 2002). Furthermore, *in vitro* studies could not detect gender differences in CYP3A activity in human liver microsomes (Schmucker et al., 1990; Shimada et al., 1994).

Several studies have reported higher activity of CYP1A2 in men compared to women, (Bartoli et al., 1996), (Bock et al., 1994; Ou-Yang et al., 2000; Relling et al., 1992). Men also expressed higher CYP2E1 activity indicated by faster oral clearance of the probe substrate chlorzoxazone than women. However, the difference was less pronounced after normalisation for body weight, indicating bodyweight-related disparities rather than gender-related (Kim and O'Shea, 1995). A number of human studies have reported significantly higher CYP2D6 activity in women than in men, these findings are of clinical importance since the isoform is an exclusive metaboliser of several therapeutic agents (Hägg et al., 2001; Labbe et al., 2000; Tamminga et al., 1999).

Despite its clinical relevance, gender related differences in CYP450 regulation only recently attracted researcher's attention. The influence of dietary components such as flavonoids on CYP450 regulation may be gender-dependent but is not well studied. Ekstrand et al., (2015) found that myricetin, isorhamnetin and quercetin affected porcine CYP1A, CYP3A and CYP2E1 activity and the mode of inhibition in a gender-dependent manner. Thus, studying this phenomenon in humans is a unique addition to the research of CYP450 regulation.

3 Material and method

An *in vitro* experiment was set up to analyse gender related differences in degree of enzyme inhibition and the type of inhibition.

CYP2E1activity was measured using the probe substrate PNP and CYP3A4 activity was measured using BFC as probe substrate. Well established HPLC methods were used to quantify 4-nitrocatechol, product of PNP metabolism, and 7-hydroxy-4-trifluoromethylcoumarin (HFC), product of BFC metabolism. The procedure consisted of mixing and incubating inhibitor (quercetin, myricetin, isohamnetin), enzyme, substrate, electron donor (NADPH) and buffer in test tubes followed by measuring product formation.

Substrate specificity and enzyme inhibition in the presence of an inhibitor were examined by using human recombinant enzymes expressed in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. The same enzyme was used to test if the catalytic activity followed a Michaelis-Menten curve.

The following step was to carry out the same experiment in female and male human liver microsomes. Two female and two male pools were analysed, each pool containing samples from approximately 20 individuals. If inhibition occurred, enzyme reversibility was tested through inclusion of a pre-incubation step. In case of reversible inhibition, multiple substrate concentrations were investigated to achieve the maximum velocity (V_{max}) of the enzyme activity, the Michaelis-Menten constant (K_m) and the inhibition constant (K_i) in order to determine the mode and strength of inhibition. Inhibition was defined as a 50 % or more decrease in catalytic activity in at least one sample within enzyme pools. The decrease was in comparison to the control which was set to have 100 % catalytic activity.

An overview of the experimental design is shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Overview of the experimental design.

3.1 Chemicals

Quercetin dehydrate 98%, 7-benzyloxy-4-trifluoromethylcoumarin (BFC), 7-hydroxy-7-benzyloxy-triflouromethylcoumarine (HFC), 7-benzyloxyresorufin (BR), reduced β -nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). Isorhamnetin and myricetin were purchased from Fluka (Buchs, Switzerland). HPLC grade acetonitrile and methanol were purchased from Merck (Darmstadt, Germany). Quercetin, isorhamnetin and myricetin were dissolved in methanol, BFC in dimethyl sulfoxide and HFC and NADPH in 0.05 M potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4). All stock solutions were stored at -80 °C, and working solutions at -20 °C.

3.2 Microsomes

CYP2E1 and CYP3A4 human recombinants, expressed in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and microsomes from liver, pooled separately from human female and male were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Steinheim, Germany). Additionally, human liver microsomes pooled from 20 female individual donors and 20 male individual donors were purchased from Life technologies Europe BV (Netherlands). Protein concentration in all human liver microsomes was 20 mg/ml.

3.3 Analysis of CYP2E1

Hydroxylation of PNP to *p*-nitrocatechol was measured to determine the catalytic activity of CYP2E1 (Tassaneeyakul et al., 1993). Incubations contained 10 pmol of human recombinant cDNA-expressed CYP2E1 or 0.2 mg of human liver microsomal protein, 0.2 mM of PNP and 1.0 mM NADPH in incubation buffer (0.1 M potassium phosphate, pH 6.8) and 2µl of 16, 32 or 128 µl inhibitor or methanol (control). For the kinetic measurements, samples with 16 µl

inhibitor were not prepared. The final incubation volume was 0.25 ml. Incubation was performed in a water bath at 37 °C, for 30 min. The reaction was terminated with 0.02 ml of 40% trichloroacetic acid. The tubes were vortexed and centrifuged at 10000g for 5 min. Supernatants were transferred to HPLC vials and concentrations of p-nitrocatechol were measured using the HPLC system consisting of a pumping system (L-7100), autosampler (AS 7200), fluorescence detector (L-7485), UV detector (L-7400) set at 345 nm, and D-7000 HPLC Manager software (Merck, Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan). Hypersil ODS column (5 μ m, 60 × 4.6 mm, Hewlett–Packard, Palo Alto, CA, USA) equipped with a guard column was used. P-nitrocatechol was eluted using an isocratic mobile phase consisting of 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid in 25% acetonotrile at a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min. PNP hydroxylation was also investigated in human recombinant CYP3A4 according to the same procedure.

3.4 Analysis of CYP3A4

Metabolism of BFC to HFC was measured to determine the activity of CYP3A (Renwick et al., 2000). Incubations contained 5 pmol of human recombinant cDNA-expressed CYP3A4 or 0.05 mg of human liver microsomal protein, 25 μ M of BFC and 1.0 mM NADPH in incubation buffer (50 mM potassium phosphate, pH 7.4) and 2 μ l of 16, 32 or 128 μ l inhibitor or methanol (control). For the kinetic measurements, samples with 16 μ l inhibitor were not prepared. The final incubation volume was 0.5 ml. Incubation was performed in a water bath at 37 °C, for 10 min. The reaction was terminated with 0.5 ml of ice cold methanol. The tubes were vortexed and centrifuged at 10000g for 5 min. Supernatants were transferred to HPLC vials and concentrations of HFC were measured using the same HPLC system as for CYP2E1, except for the detector. HFC was eluted using an isocratic mobile phase of 50 mM phosphate buffer:methanol:acetonitrile (52:45:3, v/v) at a flow rate of 1.0 ml/min and detected with a fluorescence detector (410 and 538 nm for excitation and emission wavelengths). In addition to O-dealkylation by BFC, O-dealkylation of the substrate benzyloxyresorufin (BR) was investigated in human recombinant CYP3A4.

3.5 Data analysis

Enzyme kinetic and inhibition parameters were estimated using GraphPad Prism 4.0 (GraphPad software Inc., CA, USA). Michaelis constant (K_m), maximal velocity (V_{max}) and dissociation constant for inhibitor binding (K_i) values were obtained from Michaelis–Menten non-linear regression equation.

4 Results

4.1 CYP 2E1 activity

Recombinant CYP2E1 activity

PNP was hydroxylated to 4-nitrocatechol by recombinant CYP2E1. The catalytic activity decreased with increasing concentration of quercetin compared to the control (**Figure 6a**). The mode of inhibition was competitive as indicated by a higher K_m -value in the presence of inhibitor (**Figure 6b**).



Figure 6. *In vitro* inhibition of PNP hydroxylation by quercetin in CYP2E1 human recombinant, expressed in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Remaining enzyme activity in percentage in the presence of 16, 32 and 128 μ M of quercetin (a), saturation curve with reaction velocity in different substrate concentrations and K_m and V_{max} values in presence of different quercetin concentrations (b).

Hepatic CYP2E1 activity in human microsomes

The inhibitory effects of quercetin in human microsomes differed between the two microsome pools within the same gender. At a substrate concentration of 200μ M, the enzyme activity in microsomes from pool 1 was not affected by quercetin, irrespective of female or male samples, and with or without pre-incubation (**Figure 7a**). When a lower substrate concentration was used (20μ M PNP), inhibition was observed in male but not female microsomes (**Figures 7a and 7b**). In microsome pool 2, enzyme inhibition was observed in both female and male samples with 20μ M PNP concentration and in the female microsomes with higher substrate concentration. Including a pre-incubation step in the procedure did not increase the level of inhibition (**Figures 7c and 7**). Combining the results from the two microsome pools indicate enzyme inhibition in both genders using the lower substrate concentration of 20μ M PNP and no pre-incubation did not further increase the degree of inhibition (**Figure 7e and 7f**).



Figure 7. *In vitro* inhibition by quercetin in human hepatic male and female microsomes containing CYP2E1. PNP hydroxylation of male (a) and female (b) human microsomes from pool 1 and male (c) and female (d) human microsomes from pool 2 in two different substrate concentrations. Combined results from pool 1 and pool 2 with 20μ M substrate concentration (e) and 200μ M (f). White bars indicate no pre-incubation and grey bars indicate 15 minutes pre-incubation.

A non-competitive mode of inhibition was observed in male microsomes from pool 1(**Figure 8a**) and competitive in the microsomes from pool 2 (**Figure 8b**). For the female samples, no inhibition was detected in pool 1 (**Figure 8c**) and competitive inhibition was seen in microsome pool 2 (**Figure 8d**).



Figure 8. Saturation curve of PNP hydroxylation in human hepatic microsomes containing CYP2E1. (a) male microsomes from pool 1, (b) male microsomes from Pool 2, (c), female microsomes from pool 1 and (d) female microsomes from pool 2.

PNP hydroxylation by recombinant CYP3A4

Formation of nitrocatechol from PNP by human recombinant CYP3A4 was not detected in the HPLC analysis and therefore no area under the curve could be obtained.

4.2 CYP 3A4 activity

Recombinant CYP3A4 activity

O-dealkylation of BR was observed in human recombinant CYP3A4, although the catalytic activity was not inhibited in the presence of quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin compared to the control (**Figure 9a**). The other probe substrate BFC demonstrated O-dealkylation to HFC and inhibition in the presence of quercetin and myricetin, but not isorhamnetin. Quercetin was the strongest inhibitor (**Figure 9b**).



Figure 9. *In vitro* inhibition of O-dealkylation of BR (a) and BFC (b) by quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin in human recombinant CYP3A4, expressed in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*.

Quercetin inhibited the catalytic activity in human recombinant CYP3A4 competitively (**Figure 10a**) and myricetin in a non-competitive manner (**Figure 10b**).



Figure 10. Saturation curve of BFC O-dealkylation by quercetin (a) and myricetin (b) in human recombinant CYP3A4 expressed in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*.

Hepatic CYP3A4 activity in human microsomes

Both female and male human microsomes exhibited decreased catalytic activity in the presence of quercetin (**Figure 11a**) and myricetin (**Figure 11b**) but not isorhamnetin (**Figure 11c**). Inhibition was more pronounced in the presence of quercetin than myricetin. There was no difference between genders and no effect of pre-incubation, indicating reversible inhibition.



Figure 11. *In vitro* inhibition of O-dealkylation of BFC by quercetin (a), myricetin (b) and isorhamnetin (c) in human hepatic male and female microsomes containing CYP3A4. White bars indicate no pre-incubation and grey bars indicate 15 minutes pre-incubation.

Quercetin acted as an uncompetitive inhibitor on human microsomal CYP3A4 activity in both genders and microsome pools (**Figure 12 a-d**). Myricetin exhibited a consistent non-competitive mode of inhibition between genders and microsome pools (**Figure 13 a-d**).



Figure 12. Saturation curve of BFC O-dealkylation in human hepatic male (a-b) and female (c-d) microsomes from two microsome pools, in the presence of quercetin.



	Myricetin 0 µM	Myricetin 32 µM	Myricetin 128 µM
Michaelis-Menten			
Best-fit values			
VMAX	1.506	1.509	0.9965
KM	13.55	13.90	12.07
Std. Error			
VMAX	0.1402	0.1467	0.07377
KM	4.330	4.604	3.172



	Myricetin 0 µM	Myricetin 32 µM	Myricetin 128 µM
Michaelis-Menten			
Best-fit values			
VMAX	1.609	1.376	1.321
KM	6.464	6.718	7.696
Std. Error			
VMAX	0.08142	0.1385	0.1831
KM	1.406	2.872	4.340



Figure 13. Saturation curve of BFC O-dealkylation in human hepatic male (a-b) and female (c-d) microsomes from two microsome pools, in the presence of myricetin.

4.3 Summary of results

The results from the kinetic measurements are summarised in Table 2.

Enzyme	Inhibitor	Enzyme pool	Sex	Mode of inhibition	Κ _i , μΜ
CYP2E1	Quercetin	Rec	-	Competitive	52.1 ± 6.31
		1	М	Non-competitive	779.3 ± 373.1
		2	М	Competitive	427 ± 286.3
		1	F	No inhibition	
		2	F	Competitive	314.2 ± 361.0
CYP3A4	Quercetin	Rec	-	Competitive	33.2 ± 3.5
		1	М	Uncompetitive	112 ± 35.9
		2	М	Uncompetitive	32 ± 5
		1	F	Uncompetitive	141 ± 45.6
		2	F	Uncompetitive	75 ± 20.6

_

Μ

Μ

F

F

_

Μ

F

Non-competitive

Non-competitive

Non-competitive

Non-competitive

Non-competitive

No inhibition

No inhibition

No inhibition

 74.6 ± 7.9

 273 ± 73

 534 ± 246

 163 ± 29

 177 ± 33

-

-

-

Table 2. Results from inhibition assays of recombinant, male and female CYP2E1 and CYP3A4 from two pools respectively in the presence of flavonoids

Rec = recombinant, M = male, F = female

Isorhamnetin

Myricetin

Rec

1

2

1

2

1

1

Rec

CYP3A4

CYP3A4

5 Discussion

Modulation of CYP450 activity has a large impact on xenobiotic metabolism. Extensive research in the field of CYP450 regulation has successfully contributed to better predictions of food-drug interactions (FDI) although many challenges still remain. Knowledge about gender differences in drug metabolism is for instance limited. Flavonoids in our diet are appreciated for their positive health effects but may influence drug efficacy by modulating drug metabolising enzymes. The modulation may be gender-dependent, an aspect that should be taken into account when health care professionals inform a patient about medications and when establishing drug dose recommendations. The results of this study can contribute to understanding the implication of dietary flavonoids in drug interactions.

Gender differences in inhibition effects by quercetin on CYP2E1 activity has been identified in pigs *in vitro* (Ekstrand et al., 2015). Pig is a widely used animal model in human CYP450 studies because the metabolism and disease development in pigs are comparable to in humans. Therefore, similar gender differences were expected in this study. That study considered a 50 % or more decrease in catalytic activity compared to the control might be of physiological relevance. Accordingly, decrease in catalytic activity was regarded as inhibition if the activity was reduced by at least 50 % in at least one sample within the enzyme pool.

Because quercetin clearly inhibited recombinant CYP2E1, it was expected to have inhibitory effects on CYP2E1 activity in human microsomes. Surprisingly, no inhibition was observed at the substrate concentration of 200 μ M. A theoretical explanation is that the microsomes contained other enzymes that metabolise PNP. That is however unlikely because PNP is a known selective CYP2E1 substrate (Cederbaum, 2014). Nevertheless, to test this hypothesis, PNP hydroxylation was investigated in human recombinant CYP3A4. Formation of Pnitrocatechol was not detected, confirming that CYP3A4 is not involved in PNP metabolism. Another explanation for the absence of inhibitory effects by quercetin on human microsomal CYP2E1 in this experimental set might be too high concentration of substrate used (200 μ M). Indeed, quercetin inhibited recombinant CYP2E1 in a competitive manner, and this type of inhibition can be overcome by using high substrate concentrations. To verify this hypothesis, an experiment with lower substrate concentration (20 μ M) was set up. In this case, inhibition was observed in the microsomes from male but not from female donors. This result is consistent with a similar inhibition study on pigs (Ekstrand et al., 2015). On the contrary, in microsome pool 2 the degree of inhibition was stronger in female than in male samples. The combined results including two microsome pools suggest inhibition in both genders but the

level of inhibition cannot be associated with gender due to the large variations between pool 1 and pool 2.

The competitive inhibition observed in male and female samples from pool 2 was in agreement with the theory that PNP has the ability to overpower the inhibitory effect of quercetin. However, because the K_i values were much higher than the highest inhibitor concentration used, the accuracy of inhibition mode determination is questionable. Increasing the inhibitor concentration was not considered since the results would be out of physiologically relevant levels. Most probably, quercetin is a weak human CYP2E1 inhibitor and clinically important *in vivo* effects are unlikely. The results from pool 1 further supports this idea, where K_i was the highest of all in male and no inhibition was detected in female.

CYP3A4 metabolises a broad spectrum of compounds and accounts for a large portion of xenobiotic metabolism, thus investigating effects of a number of dietary flavonoids is relevant. Gender differences in CYP3A activity have been observed in humans and specifically involving myricetin and isorhamnetin in pigs (Ekstrand et al., 2015), but prior to this study it has not been investigated in humans.

Two probe substrates, BR and BFC, were used to investigate O-dealkylation in recombinant CYP3A4. Because none of the flavonoids inhibited BR metabolism, it was not further investigated. Quercetin and myricetin inhibited BFC metabolism in human recombinant CYP3A4 as expected. Isorhamnetin had no inhibitory effects despite its similar structure to quercetin. It confirms the fact that the number and position of hydroxyl groups in the flavonol structure determines the inhibitory capacity.

Similarly to CYP2E1 inhibition, quercetin inhibited human recombinant CYP3A4 competitively. Myricetin demonstrated non-competitive inhibition, indicating binding to a different site of the enzyme compared to quercetin. The results imply that the substrate can overcome inhibition by quercetin but not by myricetin. For *in vivo* relevance, the non-competitive inhibitor myricetin would be a more potent inhibitor than the competitive inhibitor quercetin given that the drug (substrate) concentration is high enough. However, in this study quercetin was a competitive inhibitor only in recombinant CYP3A4 but not in human microsomes which resemble *in vivo* conditions better than recombinant enzyme.

Both quercetin and myricetin acted as reversible inhibitors in the present study, an irreversible mechanism would have a larger impact *in vivo* because the inhibition is stronger. Isorhamnetin had no inhibitory effect. Interestingly, isorhamnetin inhibited CYP3A BFC metabolism in male and female hepatic porcine microsomes (Ekstrand et al. 2015). A species difference in CYP3A4 regulation might explain the absence of inhibition by isorhamnetin in the present study. Another possibility is that the other member of the CYP3A family, CYP3A5, influenced BFC metabolism in the pig study and/or in this study. The exact isoform that is inhibited by isorhamnetin remains to be investigated.

According to the literature, flavonoids possessing many hydroxyl groups are more potent CYP450 inhibitors *in vitro* (Ho et al., 2001; Pang et al., 2012). In this case, quercetin was a stronger inhibitor than myricetin of both recombinant and microsomal CYP3A4 enzymes despite one less hydroxyl group. The result suggests that other factors influence differences in inhibition potency. Possibly, flavonoids interact differently depending on the choice of substrate and the specific CYP450 isoform. Inhibition by quercetin should be of greater importance *in vivo* considering it is more prevalent in food than myricetin.

The K_i values reveal some fluctuations in degree of inhibition between microsome pools. Inhibition by quercetin may seem to be stronger in male CYP3A4 whereas inhibition by myricetin was more pronounced in females indicated by lower K_i values in those samples. However, the variation was larger between the pools than between genders. Therefore, it cannot be concluded that quercetin and myricetin inhibit human CYP3A4 activity in a gender-dependent manner.

Taken together, this study confirmed that quercetin inhibits human CYP2E1 activity and quercetin and myricetin inhibit human CYP3A4 activity *in vitro*. In contrast to pigs, there was no clear pattern of gender related differences in humans. Genetic or lifestyle factors together with weak inhibition effects probably explain the observed variations in enzyme activity between the samples. Studies on gender-related inhibition mechanisms should therefore include enzyme pools from several origins. It is also possible that gender differences exist but cannot be detected in the present study due to the other factors influencing enzyme activity. In studies using animal models, individual characteristics and environmental and dietary factors (breed and feed) are strictly controlled. Such control cannot be achieved in human studies. Nevertheless, it may explain why gender differences were observed in pigs but not in humans. This aspect should be taken into account when applying results from animal studies to human CYP450 regulation.

FDI involving quercetin and myricetin are plausible considering CYP3A4 metabolises most drugs. However, the K_i values in the present study were in general higher than the maximum plasma concentration of bioactive compounds, only quercetin inhibited CYP3A4 at levels relevant *in vivo*. It should also be noted that *in vitro* models studying one mechanism should be extrapolated *in vivo* with caution. CYP450 activities are regulated at several levels in the body and influenced by both genetic and environmental factors. There may be overlaps in bioactivation and detoxification, CYP3A4 can for instance both activate and detoxicate aflatoxin (Buening et al., 1981). This complexity is also noticeable when the effects of flavonoids show contradictory results in short term versus long term exposure. Whether the investigated flavonoids have the ability to cause clinically relevant FDI must be investigated *in vivo*. *In vitro* experiments including the present study are useful as an initial approach to predict FDI.

It can be argued that use of relatively high concentrations of inhibitor (above the concentration found in circulation) might be regarded as a study limitation. However, Ki values (in contrast to IC50) are not dependent on experimental conditions, and provide relevant information on potency of the inhibitor independently on the concentration used in the study. Indeed, *in vitro* studies aimed to investigate inhibition mechanism commonly use inhibitor concentration higher than physiologically relevant to provoke the effect and elucidate the mechanism behind it. The second study limitation is a low number of microsomal pools included in the study. Only 2 pools from male and 2 from female donors were used. Even each of these pools consisted of microsomes from 20 or more individuals, taken into consideration between-individual variations, it is difficult to make generalizations about two large subpopulations (human females and males, each comprising about 5 billion individuals). Nevertheless, such studies, while preliminary and explorative, are of value and might give new insight into interpretation of existing data and suggest new avenues for future research.

6 Conclusions

This study suggests that (1) quercetin reversibly inhibits *in vitro* activity of human hepatic CYP2E1 and (2) quercetin and myricetin but not isorhamnetin reversibly inhibit *in vitro* activity of human hepatic CYP3A4. Inter-individual differences in enzyme activity in presence of those flavonoids are most likely due to other factors than gender.

7 Acknowledgements

Many thanks to supervisor Galia Zamaratskaia for her deep engagement and excellent guidance through the practical experiment and the writing procedure of this thesis.

References

- Ameer, B., Weintraub, R.A., 1997. Drug interactions with grapefruit juice. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 33, 103–121. doi:10.2165/00003088-199733020-00003
- Arnaud, O., Koubeissi, A., Ettouati, L., Terreux, R., Alame, G., Grenot, C., Dumontet, C., Di Pietro, A., Paris, J., Falson, P., 2010. Potent and fully noncompetitive peptidomimetic inhibitor of multidrug resistance. J. Med. Chem. 53, 6720–6729. doi:10.1021/jm100839w
- Aubert, J., Begriche, K., Knockaert, L., Robin, M.A., Fromenty, B., 2011. Increased expression of cytochrome P450 2E1 in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: mechanisms and pathophysiological role. Clin. Res. Hepatol. Gastroenterol. 35, 630–637. doi:10.1016/j.clinre.2011.04.015
- Barcelo, S., Gardiner, J.M., Gescher, A., Chipman, J.K., 1996. CYP2E1-mediated mechanism of anti-genotoxicity of the broccoli constituent sulforaphane. Carcinogenesis 17, 277–282. doi:10.1093/carcin/17.2.277
- Bartoli, A., Xiaodong, S., Gatti, G., Cipolla, G., Marchiselli, R., Perucca, E., 1996. The influence of ethnic factors and gender on CYP1A2-mediated drug disposition: a comparative study in Caucasian and Chinese subjects using phenacetin as a marker substrate. Ther. Drug Monit. 18, 586–591.
- Berg, J.M., Tymoczko, J.L., Stryer, L., 2002. Chapter 8, in: Biochemistry. 5th ed., pp. 239-240.
- Bhagwat, S., Haytowitz, D.B., Holden, J.M., 2014. USDA Database for the Flavonoid Content of Selected Foods (No. Release 3.1). U.S. Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service.
- Bock, K.W., Schrenk, D., Forster, A., Griese, E.U., Morike, K., Brockmeier, D., Eichelbaum, M., 1994. The influence of environmental and genetic factors on CYP2D6, CYP1A2 and. Pharmacogenetics 4, 209–218.
- Buening, M.K., Chang, R.L., Huang, M.T., Fortner, J.G., Wood, A.W., Conney, A.H., 1981. Activation and inhibition of benzo(a)pyrene and aflatoxin B1 metabolism in human liver microsomes by naturally occurring flavonoids. Cancer Res. 41, 67–72.
- Caro, A.A., Cederbaum, A.I., 2004. Oxidative stress, toxicology, and pharmacology of CYP2E1. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 44, 27–42. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.44.101802.121704
- Catterall, F., McArdle, N.J., Mitchell, L., Papayanni, A., Clifford, M.N., Ioannides, C., 2003. Hepatic and intestinal cytochrome P450 and conjugase activities in rats treated with black tea theafulvins and theaflavins. Food Chem. Toxicol. 41, 1141–1147. doi:10.1016/S0278-6915(03)00073-5
- Cederbaum, A.I., 2014. Methodology to assay CYP2E1 mixed function oxidase catalytic activity and its induction. Redox Biol. 2, 1048–1054. doi:10.1016/j.redox.2014.09.007
- Cer, R.Z., Mudunuri, U., Stephens, R., Lebeda, F.J., 2009. IC(50)-to-K(i): a web-based tool for converting IC(50) to K(i) values for inhibitors of enzyme activity and ligand binding. Nucleic Acids Res. 37, W441–W445. doi:10.1093/nar/gkp253
- C.f. Bodewes, T., Luttikhold, J., F.m. Van Stijn, M., Visser, M., Van Norren, K., A.r. Vermeulen, M., A.m. Van Leeuwen, P., 2011. Antioxidative Properties of Flavonoids 15, 2616–2626. doi:10.2174/138527211796367282
- Chen, X.-W., Sneed, K.B., Pan, S.-Y., Cao, C., Kanwar, J.R., Chew, H., Zhou, S.-F., 2012. Herb-drug interactions and mechanistic and clinical considerations. Curr. Drug Metab. 13, 640–651.
- Chen, Y., Xiao, P., Ou-Yang, D.-S., Fan, L., Guo, D., Wang, Y.-N., Han, Y., Tu, J.-H., Zhou, G., Huang, Y.-F., Zhou, H.-H., 2009. Simultaneous action of the flavonoid quercetin on cytochrome P450 (CYP) 1A2, CYP2A6, N-acetyltransferase and xanthine oxidase activity in healthy volunteers. Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol. 36, 828–833. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1681.2009.05158.x
- Cho, H.-J., Yoon, I.-S., 2015. Pharmacokinetic Interactions of Herbs with Cytochrome P450 and P-Glycoprotein. Evid. Based Complement. Alternat. Med. 2015, 10.
- Choi, D.-H., Li, C., Choi, J.-S., 2010. Effects of myricetin, an antioxidant, on the pharmacokinetics of losartan and its active metabolite, EXP-3174, in rats: possible role of cytochrome P450 3A4, cytochrome P450 2C9 and P-glycoprotein inhibition by myricetin. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 62, 908–914. doi:10.1211/jpp.62.07.0012
- Choi, J.-S., Piao, Y.-J., Kang, K.W., 2011. Effects of quercetin on the bioavailability of doxorubicin in rats: role of CYP3A4 and P-gp inhibition by quercetin. Arch. Pharm. Res. 34, 607–613. doi:10.1007/s12272-011-0411-x
- Chow, H.-H.S., Garland, L.L., Hsu, C.-H., Vining, D.R., Chew, W.M., Miller, J.A., Perloff, M., Crowell, J.A., Alberts, D.S., 2010. Resveratrol modulates drug- and carcinogen-metabolizing enzymes in a healthy volunteer study. Cancer Prev. Res. Phila. Pa 3, 1168–1175. doi:10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-09-0155
- Ekstrand, B., Rasmussen, M.K., Woll, F., Zlabek, V., Zamaratskaia, G., 2015. *In vitro* gender-dependent inhibition of porcine cytochrome p450 activity by selected flavonoids and phenolic acids. BioMed Res. Int. 2015, 387918. doi:10.1155/2015/387918
- Fan, Y., Rong, Y., Li, P., Dong, W., Zhang, D., Zhang, L., Cui, M., 2013. Genistein protection against acetaminophen-induced liver injury via its potential impact on the activation of UDP-glucuronosyltransferase and antioxidant enzymes. Food Chem. Toxicol. 55, 172–181. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2013.01.003
- Fasinu, P., Choonara, Y.E., Khan, R.A., Du Toit, L.C., Kumar, P., K. Ndesendo, V.M., Pillay, V., 2013. Flavonoids and polymer derivatives as CYP3A4 inhibitors for improved oral drug bioavailability. J. Pharm. Sci. 102, 541–555. doi:10.1002/jps.23382

- Gaudineau, C., Beckerman, R., Welbourn, S., Auclair, K., 2004. Inhibition of human P450 enzymes by multiple constituents of the Ginkgo biloba extract. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 318, 1072–1078. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.04.139
- Girre, C., Lucas, D., Hispard, E., Menez, C., Dally, S., Menez, J.F., 1994. Assessment of cytochrome P4502E1 induction in alcoholic patients by chlorzoxazone pharmacokinetics. Biochem. Pharmacol. 47, 1503–1508.
- Gonzalez, F.J., 2007. CYP2E1. Drug Metab. Dispos. 35, 1-8. doi:10.1124/dmd.106.012492
- Gonzalez, F.J., 1988. The molecular biology of cytochrome P450s. Pharmacol. Rev. 40, 243-288.
- Gonzalez, F.J., Gelboin, H.V., 1994. Role of human cytochromes P450 in the metabolic activation of chemical carcinogens and toxins. Drug Metab. Rev. 26, 165–183. doi:10.3109/03602539409029789
- Guengerich, F.P., 2001. Common and uncommon cytochrome P450 reactions related to metabolism and chemical toxicity. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 14, 611–650.
- Guo, Y.-J., Zheng, S.-L., 2014. Effect of myricetin on cytochrome P450 isoforms CYP1A2, CYP2C9 and CYP3A4 in rats 69, 306.
- Gurley, B.J., Gardner, S.F., Hubbard, M.A., Williams, D.K., Gentry, W.B., Cui, Y., Ang, C.Y.W., 2005. Clinical assessment of effects of botanical supplementation on cytochrome P450 phenotypes in the elderly: St John's wort, garlic oil, Panax ginseng and Ginkgo biloba. Drugs Aging 22, 525–539.
- Hägg, S., Spigset, O., Dahlqvist, R., 2001. Influence of gender and oral contraceptives on CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 activity in healthy volunteers. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 51, 169–173. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2001.01328.x
- HARDING, B.W., WONG, S.H., NELSON, D.H., 1964. CARBON MONOXIDE-COMBINING SUBSTANCES IN RAT ADRENAL. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 92, 415–417.
- Harris, S., Brunton, N., Tiwari, U., Cummins, E., 2015. Human exposure modelling of quercetin in onions (Allium cepa L.) following thermal processing. Food Chem. 187, 135–139. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.04.035
- Haupt, L.J., Kazmi, F., Ogilvie, B.W., Buckley, D.B., Smith, B.D., Leatherman, S., Paris, B., Parkinson, O., Parkinson, A., 2015. The Reliability of Estimating Ki Values for Direct, Reversible Inhibition of Cytochrome P450 Enzymes from Corresponding IC50 Values: A Retrospective Analysis of 343 Experiments. Drug Metab. Dispos. 43, 1744–1750. doi:10.1124/dmd.115.066597
- He, Wu, J.-J., Ning, J., Hou, J., Xin, H., He, Y.-Q., Ge, G.-B., Xu, W., 2015. Inhibition of human cytochrome P450 enzymes by licochalcone A, a naturally occurring constituent of licorice. Toxicol. *In vitro* 29, 1569–1576. doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2015.06.014
- Hewitt, N.J., Lecluyse, E.L., Ferguson, S.S., 2007. Induction of hepatic cytochrome P450 enzymes: methods, mechanisms, recommendations, and *in vitro-in vivo* correlations. Xenobiotica Fate Foreign Compd. Biol. Syst. 37, 1196–1224. doi:10.1080/00498250701534893
- Ho, P.C., Saville, D.J., Wanwimolruk, S., 2001. Inhibition of human CYP3A4 activity by grapefruit flavonoids, furanocoumarins and related compounds. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci. Publ. Can. Soc. Pharm. Sci. Soc. Can. Sci. Pharm. 4, 217–227.
- Hodek, P., Trefil, P., Stiborova, M., 2002. Flavonoids-potent and versatile biologically active compounds interacting with cytochromes P450. Chem. Biol. Interact. 139, 1–21.
- Hoffmann, M.F., Preissner, S.C., Nickel, J., Dunkel, M., Preissner, R., Preissner, S., 2014. The Transformer database: biotransformation of xenobiotics. Nucleic Acids Res. 42, D1113–D1117. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt1246
- Hollman, P.C., Cassidy, A. Comte, B. Heinonen, M. Richelle, M. Richling, E. Serafini, M. Scalbert, A. Sies, H. Vidry, S., 2011. The biological relevance of direct antioxidant effects of polyphenols for cardiovascular health in humans is not established. J Nutr. 141, 989s-1009s.
- Hollman, P.C., Katan, M.B., 1999. Health effects and bioavailability of dietary flavonols. Free Radic. Res. 31 Suppl, S75-80.
- Ingelman-Sundberg, M., Sim, S.C., 2010. Pharmacogenetic biomarkers as tools for improved drug therapy; emphasis on the cytochrome P450 system. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 396, 90–94. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.02.162
- Kahan, B.D., Kramer, W.G., Wideman, C.A., Frazier, O.H., Lorber, M.I., Williams, C., Flechner, S.M., Cooley, D.A., Van Buren, C.T., 1986. Analysis of pharmacokinetic profiles in 232 renal and 87 cardiac allograft recipients treated with cyclosporine. Transplant. Proc. 18, 115–119.
- Kale, A., Gawande, S., Kotwal, S., 2008. Cancer phytotherapeutics: role for flavonoids at the cellular level. Phytother. Res. PTR 22, 567–577. doi:10.1002/ptr.2283
- Kang, M.H., Won, S.M., Park, S.S., Kim, S.G., Novak, R.F., Kim, N.D., 1994. Piperine effects on the expression of P4502E1, P4502B and P4501A in rat. Xenobiotica Fate Foreign Compd. Biol. Syst. 24, 1195–1204. doi:10.3109/00498259409038675
- Kelly, G.S., 2011. Quercetin. Monograph. Altern. Med. Rev. J. Clin. Ther. 16, 172–194.
- Kim, H.J., Chun, Y.J., Park, J.D., Kim, S.I., Roh, J.K., Jeong, T.C., 1997. Protection of rat liver microsomes against carbon tetrachloride-induced lipid peroxidation by red ginseng saponin through cytochrome P450 inhibition. Planta Med. 63, 415–418. doi:10.1055/s-2006-957724
- Kim, R.B., O'Shea, D., 1995. Interindividual variability of chlorzoxazone 6-hydroxylation in men and women and its relationship to CYP2E1 genetic polymorphisms. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 57, 645–655. doi:10.1016/0009-9236(95)90227-9

Kinirons, M.T., O'Shea, D., Kim, R.B., Groopman, J.D., Thummel, K.E., Wood, A.J., Wilkinson, G.R., 1999. Failure of erythromycin breath test to correlate with midazolam clearance as a probe of cytochrome P4503A. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 66, 224–231. doi:10.1016/S0009-9236(99)70029-9

KLINGENBERG, M., 1958. Pigments of rat liver microsomes. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 75, 376-386.

- Krecic-Shepard, M.E., Park, K., Barnas, C., Slimko, J., Kerwin, D.R., Schwartz, J.B., 2000. Race and sex influence clearance of nifedipine: results of a population study. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 68, 130–142. doi:10.1067/mcp.2000.108678
- Krest, C.M., Onderko, E.L., Yosca, T.H., Calixto, J.C., Karp, R.F., Livada, J., Rittle, J., Green, M.T., 2013. Reactive intermediates in cytochrome p450 catalysis. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 17074–17081. doi:10.1074/jbc.R113.473108
- Labbe, L., Sirois, C., Pilote, S., Arseneault, M., Robitaille, N.M., Turgeon, J., Hamelin, B.A., 2000. Effect of gender, sex hormones, time variables and physiological urinary pH on apparent CYP2D6 activity as assessed by metabolic ratios of marker substrates. Pharmacogenetics 10, 425–438.
- Lan, L.B., Dalton, J.T., Schuetz, E.G., 2000. Mdr1 limits CYP3A metabolism *in vivo*. Mol. Pharmacol. 58, 863–869.
- Lau, A.J., Chang, T.K.H., 2009. Inhibition of human CYP2B6-catalyzed bupropion hydroxylation by Ginkgo biloba extract: effect of terpene trilactones and flavonols 37, 1931. doi:10.1124/dmd.109.028118
- Lau, W.C., Welch, T.D., Shields, T., Rubenfire, M., Tantry, U.S., Gurbel, P.A., 2011. The effect of St John's Wort on the pharmacodynamic response of clopidogrel in hyporesponsive volunteers and patients: increased platelet inhibition by enhancement of CYP3A4 metabolic activity. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 57, 86–93. doi:10.1097/FJC.0b013e3181ffe8d0
- Lew, K.H., Ludwig, E.A., Milad, M.A., Donovan, K., Middleton, E.J., Ferry, J.J., Jusko, W.J., 1993. Gender-based effects on methylprednisolone pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 54, 402–414.
- Li, Y., Wang, E., Patten, C.J., Chen, L., Yang, C.S., 1994. Effects of flavonoids on cytochrome P450-dependent acetaminophen metabolism in rats and human liver microsomes. Drug Metab. Dispos. Biol. Fate Chem. 22, 566–571.
- Lynch, T., Price, A., 2007. The effect of cytochrome P450 metabolism on drug response, interactions, and adverse effects. Am. Fam. Physician 76, 391–396.
- Mathews, C.K., Van Holde, K.E., Appling, D.R., Anthony-Cahill, S.J., 2012. Chapter 11, in: Biochemistry. 4th ed., pp. 440–444.
- Meibohm, B., Beierle, I., Derendorf, H., 2002. Now important are gender differences in pharmacokinetics? Clin Pharmacokinet 41, 329–342.
- Mitchell, A.E., Hong, Y.-J., Koh, E., Barrett, D.M., Bryant, D.E., Denison, R.F., Kaffka, S., 2007. Ten-year comparison of the influence of organic and conventional crop management practices on the content of flavonoids in tomatoes. J. Agric. Food Chem. 55, 6154–6159. doi:10.1021/jf070344+
- Moon, Y.J., Wang, X., Morris, M.E., 2006. Dietary flavonoids: effects on xenobiotic and carcinogen metabolism. Toxicol. Vitro Int. J. Publ. Assoc. BIBRA 20, 187–210. doi:10.1016/j.tiv.2005.06.048
- Nelson, D.R., Zeldin, D.C., Hoffman, S.M.G., Maltais, L.J., Wain, H.M., Nebert, D.W., 2004. Comparison of cytochrome P450 (CYP) genes from the mouse and human genomes, including nomenclature recommendations for genes, pseudogenes and alternative-splice variants. Pharmacogenetics 14, 1–18.
- Obach, R.S., 2000. Inhibition of human cytochrome P450 enzymes by constituents of St. John's Wort, an herbal preparation used in the treatment of depression. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 294, 88–95.
- Omura, T., 2010. Structural diversity of cytochrome P450 enzyme system. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 147, 297–306. doi:10.1093/jb/mvq001
- OMURA, T., SATO, R., 1962. A new cytochrome in liver microsomes. J. Biol. Chem. 237, 1375–1376.
- Ong, K.C., Khoo, H.E., 1997. Biological effects of myricetin. Gen. Pharmacol. 29, 121-126.
- Ortiz de Montellano, P.R., Voss, J.J., 2005. Substrate Oxidation by Cytochrome P450 Enzymes, in: Ortiz de Montellano, P.R. (Ed.), Cytochrome P450: Structure, Mechanism, and Biochemistry. Springer US, Boston, MA, pp. 183–245.
- Ou-Yang, D.S., Huang, S.L., Wang, W., Xie, H.G., Xu, Z.H., Shu, Y., Zhou, H.H., 2000. Phenotypic polymorphism and gender-related differences of CYP1A2 activity in a Chinese population. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 49, 145–151.
- Pang, C.Y., Mak, J.W., Ismail, R., Ong, C.E., 2012. *In vitro* modulatory effects of flavonoids on human cytochrome P450 2C8 (CYP2C8). Naunyn. Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 385, 495–502. doi:10.1007/s00210-012-0731-5
- Pelkonen, O., Turpeinen, M., Hakkola, J., Honkakoski, P., Hukkanen, J., Raunio, H., 2008. Inhibition and induction of human cytochrome P450 enzymes: current status. Arch. Toxicol. 82, 667–715. doi:10.1007/s00204-008-0332-8
- Penaloza, C.G., Estevez, B., Han, D.M., Norouzi, M., Lockshin, R.A., Zakeri, Z., 2014. Sex-dependent regulation of cytochrome P450 family members Cyp1a1, Cyp2e1, and Cyp7b1 by methylation of DNA. FASEB J. 28, 966–977. doi:10.1096/fj.13-233320
- Piver, B., Berthou, F., Dreano, Y., Lucas, D., 2001. Inhibition of CYP3A, CYP1A and CYP2E1 activities by resveratrol and other non volatile red wine components. Toxicol. Lett. 125, 83–91. doi:10.1016/S0378-4274(01)00418-0

- Rastogi, H., Jana, S., 2014. Evaluation of Inhibitory Effects of Caffeic acid and Quercetin on Human Liver Cytochrome P450 Activities. Phytother. Res. 28, 1873–1878. doi:10.1002/ptr.5220
- Relling, M.V., Lin, J.S., Ayers, G.D., Evans, W.E., 1992. Racial and gender differences in N-acetyltransferase, xanthine oxidase, and CYP1A2 activities. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 52, 643–658.
- Renwick, A.B., Surry, D., Price, R.J., Lake, B.G., Evans, D.C., 2000. Metabolism of 7-benzyloxy-4-trifluoromethyl-coumarin by human hepatic cytochrome P450 isoforms. Xenobiotica Fate Foreign Compd. Biol. Syst. 30, 955–969. doi:10.1080/00498250050200113
- Rodgers, E.H., Grant, M.H., 1998. The effect of the flavonoids, quercetin, myricetin and epicatechin on the growth and enzyme activities of MCF7 human breast cancer cells. Chem. Biol. Interact. 116, 213–228.
- Schmucker, D.L., Woodhouse, K.W., Wang, R.K., Wynne, H., James, O.F., McManus, M., Kremers, P., 1990. Effects of age and gender on *in vitro* properties of human liver microsomal monooxygenases. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 48, 365–374.
- Schwarz, D., Kisselev, P., Schunck, W.-H., Roots, I., 2011. Inhibition of 17beta-estradiol activation by CYP1A1: genotype- and regioselective inhibition by St. John's Wort and several natural polyphenols. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1814, 168–174. doi:10.1016/j.bbapap.2010.09.014
- Shimada, T., Yamazaki, H., Mimura, M., Inui, Y., Guengerich, F.P., 1994. Interindividual variations in human liver cytochrome P-450 enzymes involved in the oxidation of drugs, carcinogens and toxic chemicals: studies with liver microsomes of 30 Japanese and 30 Caucasians. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 270, 414– 423.
- Si, Y.-X., Wang, Z.-J., Park, D., Jeong, H.O., Ye, S., Chung, H.Y., Yang, J.-M., Yin, S.-J., Qian, G.-Y., 2012. Effects of isorhamnetin on tyrosinase: inhibition kinetics and computational simulation. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 76, 1091–1097. doi:10.1271/bbb.110910
- Stresser, D.M., Blanchard, A.P., Turner, S.D., Erve, J.C.L., Dandeneau, A.A., Miller, V.P., Crespi, C.L., 2000. Substrate-Dependent Modulation of CYP3A4 Catalytic Activity: Analysis of 27 Test Compounds with Four Fluorometric Substrates. Drug Metab. Dispos. 28, 1440–1448.
- Sun, D.-X., Lu, J.-C., Fang, Z.-Z., Zhang, Y.-Y., Cao, Y.-F., Mao, Y.-X., Zhu, L.-L., Yin, J., Yang, L., 2010. Reversible inhibition of three important human liver cytochrome p450 enzymes by tiliroside. Phytother. Res. 24, 1670–1675. doi:10.1002/ptr.3189
- Takemura, H., Itoh, T., Yamamoto, K., Sakakibara, H., Shimoi, K., 2010. Selective inhibition of methoxyflavonoids on human CYP1B1 activity. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 18, 6310–6315. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2010.07.020
- Tamminga, W.J., Wemer, J., Oosterhuis, B., Weiling, J., Wilffert, B., de Leij, L.F., de Zeeuw, R.A., Jonkman, J.H., 1999. CYP2D6 and CYP2C19 activity in a large population of Dutch healthy volunteers: indications for oral contraceptive-related gender differences. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 55, 177–184.
- Tassaneeyakul, W., Veronese, M.E., Birkett, D.J., Gonzalez, F.J., Miners, J.O., 1993. Validation of 4-nitrophenol as an *in vitro* substrate probe for human liver CYP2E1 using cDNA expression and microsomal kinetic techniques. Biochem. Pharmacol. 46, 1975–1981.
- Tiong, K.H., Yiap, B.C., Tan, E.L., Ismail, R., Ong, C.E., 2010. *In vitro* modulation of naturally occurring flavonoids on cytochrome P450 2A6 (CYP2A6) activity. Xenobiotica 40, 458–466. doi:10.3109/00498251003786749
- Veronese, M.L., Gillen, L.P., Burke, J.P., Dorval, E.P., Hauck, W.W., Pequignot, E., Waldman, S.A., Greenberg, H.E., 2003. Exposure-dependent inhibition of intestinal and hepatic CYP3A4 *in vivo* by grapefruit juice. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 43, 831–839.
- Vijayakumar, T.M., Kumar, R.M., Agrawal, A., Dubey, G.P., Ilango, K., 2015. Comparative inhibitory potential of selected dietary bioactive polyphenols, phytosterols on CYP3A4 and CYP2D6 with fluorometric highthroughput screening. J. Food Sci. Technol. 52, 4537–4543. doi:10.1007/s13197-014-1472-x
- von Richter, O., Burk, O., Fromm, M.F., Thon, K.P., Eichelbaum, M., Kivisto, K.T., 2004. Cytochrome P450 3A4 and P-glycoprotein expression in human small intestinal enterocytes and hepatocytes: a comparative analysis in paired tissue specimens. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 75, 172–183. doi:10.1016/j.clpt.2003.10.008
- Wach, A., Pyrzyńska, K., Biesaga, M., 2007. Quercetin content in some food and herbal samples. Food Chem. 100, 699–704. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2005.10.028
- Wanwimolruk, S., Prachayasittikul, V., 2014. Cytochrome P450 enzyme mediated herbal drug interactions (Part 1). EXCLI J. 13, 347–391.
- Wargovich, M.J., 2006. Diallylsulfide and allylmethylsulfide are uniquely effective among organosulfur compounds in inhibiting CYP2E1 protein in animal models. J. Nutr. 136, 832S–834S.
- Wienkers, L.C., Heath, T.G., 2005. Predicting *in vivo* drug interactions from *in vitro* drug discovery data. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 4, 825–833. doi:10.1038/nrd1851
- Xie, H.-G., Kim, R.B., 2005. St John's wort-associated drug interactions: short-term inhibition and long-term induction? Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 78, 19–24. doi:10.1016/j.clpt.2005.04.002
- Yu, C.-P., Wu, P.-P., Hou, Y.-C., Lin, S.-P., Tsai, S.-Y., Chen, C.-T., Chao, P.-D.L., 2011. Quercetin and rutin reduced the bioavailability of cyclosporine from Neoral, an immunosuppressant, through activating Pglycoprotein and CYP 3A4. J. Agric. Food Chem. 59, 4644–4648. doi:10.1021/jf104786t
- Zanger, U.M., Schwab, M., 2013. Cytochrome P450 enzymes in drug metabolism: regulation of gene expression, enzyme activities, and impact of genetic variation. Pharmacol. Ther. 138, 103–141. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2012.12.007

- Zhou, S.-F., Xue, C.C., Yu, X.-Q., Li, C., Wang, G., 2007. Clinically important drug interactions potentially involving mechanism-based inhibition of cytochrome P450 3A4 and the role of therapeutic drug monitoring. Ther. Drug Monit. 29, 687–710. doi:10.1097/FTD.0b013e31815c16f5
- Zuber, R., Modriansky, M., Dvorak, Z., Rohovsky, P., Ulrichova, J., Simanek, V., Anzenbacher, P., 2002. Effect of silybin and its congeners on human liver microsomal cytochrome P450 activities. Phytother. Res. PTR 16, 632–638. doi:10.1002/ptr.1000

8. Appendix: Popular summary

What you eat may influence how your body deals with drugs

and even depend on your gender!

The scientific evidence are clear, piling up your plate with vegetables every day is good for you and it prevent diseases. Why are the greens so healthy? Part of the answer could be: Flavonoids. These molecules are not essential nutrients but found in nearly all vegetables. They help keeping your cells healthy by for example using their antioxidative power to scavenge evil free radicals. What is less desirable about flavonoids is that they can interact with drug metabolising enzymes, so called cytochrome P450 enzymes. A well known example is grape-fruit juice which contains flavonoids that have been shown to inhibit cytochrome P450 enzyme activity. An inhibited enzyme is unable to break down drugs or other foreign compounds properly. The consequence may be that the drug loses its effect or in the worst case, causes adverse effects.

I have studied this so called food-drug interaction a bit deeper and found some unexpected results. I investigated inhibition of two cytochrome P450 isoforms: CYP2E1 and CYP3A4. They are both highly involved in the breakdown of foreign compounds in the liver. In pigs, it was previously shown that CYP2E1 and CYP3A4 activity were inhibited by flavonoids differently in males compared to females. Since pigs are commonly used as an animal model for studying human CYP450 regulation, I was eager to investigate if similar gender-related differences exist also in humans.

The experiment was executed *in vitro* (in test tubes) where liver enzymes deriving from male and female donors were mixed with a flavonoid. Three flavonoids were investigated for their inhibitory effects: quercetin, myricetin and isorhamnetin. Quercetin is one of the most common flavonoids in our diet, myricetin and isorhamnetin are less present but contribute to the overall flavonoid intake. Apples, onions, tea and red wine account for a large portion of our dietary sources of flavonoids.

To my surprise, no gender differences in the degree of enzyme inhibition by flavonoids were seen. Instead the inhibition differed greatly between donor pools within the same gender, suggesting that currently unknown factor beyond sex affect the inhibition. Thus, drug metabolism is regulated differently in humans compared to in pigs and there must be other factors responsible for the inter-individual differences in enzyme activity, for instance genetic profile, age or health status of the donors. Inhibition of CYP2E1 and CYP3A4 was observed in both genders in the presence of quercetin and myricetin but not isorhamnetin. A big question: will the quercetin and myricetin you eat impede your ability to break down drugs? According to the results from my study, probably not, because the inhibition was weak and you would need to eat unrealistic amounts of quercetin and myricetin. On the other hand, food contains lots of other flavonoids that may also inhibit drug metabolising enzymes. If you are on medication and take additional herbal supplements the flavonoid intake will be considerably higher and thereby a food-drug interaction may occur. However, food-drug interactions depend on several other factors, therefore a conclusion regarding the effect of quercetin and myricetin in living persons cannot be drawn from the results of my research. But it gives a hint of potential food-drug interactions that should be further investigated in clinical studies.